# Assessing Online and Offline Adolescent Social Skills: Development and Validation of the Real and Electronic Communication Skills Questionnaire

Gregory Mantzouranis, PhD<sup>1\*</sup>, Sophie Baudat, MSc<sup>1</sup>, Grégoire Zimmermann, PhD<sup>1</sup>

## Abstract

Studies examining the associations between Internet use and social skills are increasingly frequent. However, most of them only evaluate offline social skills and consider them as equivalents to online social skills. So far, no instrument allowed differentiating social skills depending on online versus offline contexts. This study aimed to develop and validate the Real and Electronic Communication Skills questionnaire (RECS), a new measure evaluating several dimensions of social skills in two different contexts (i.e., face-to-face and computer-mediated communication). Results of exploratory and confirmatory factor analyses among a sample of 657 adolescents and young adults (mean age = 17.68 years; 67% female) showed that the best fitting model for each context is a bifactor solution, with one general factor (Social Competence) and four specific factors (Sociability, Emotion Decoding, Disclosure, and Assertiveness). Each specific factor was differentially correlated with theoretically relevant subscales of the Social Skills Inventory, confirming the external validity of the RECS. The RECS is the first instrument allowing not only to assess social competence in online settings but also to quantify the relationships between offline social skills and their online counterpart. Given its ease of use and brevity, the RECS is a useful and promising instrument to capture social skills in both online and offline contexts.

## **Keywords**

scale development — social skills — computer-mediated communication — contextual differences — online/offline comparison

<sup>1</sup> FAmily and DevelOpment Research Center (FADO), Institute of Psychology, University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland \*Corresponding author: gregory.mantzouranis@unil.ch

## Contents

Introduction 1	
Dimensions of social skills2	
Assertiveness	
Initiation of interactions	
Self-disclosure	
Sociability	
Expression of emotions and emotion decoding . 2	
Methods 2	
Participants and procedure 2	
Measures	
Analysis strategy 3	
Results and Discussion 3	
Principal component analyses3	
Confirmatory factor analyses 4	
Internal consistency 4	
Nomological validity 4	
Conclusion 7	

Acknowledgments	8
Author Disclosure Statement	8
Supplementary Material	8

## Introduction

Is it possible to be more sociable when interacting with a friend on Facebook rather than face-to-face (FtF)? Since the rapid spread of the Internet, a growing number of studies suggested that social skills may be expressed differently when people interact in online versus offline contexts. Indeed, many theories suggest that a distinction should be made between offline and online social interactions. FtF and computer mediated communication (CMC) contexts differ from each other, for instance, in terms of their number and type of cue systems (e.g., verbal, nonverbal, or paraverbal), their degree of instant feedback, or in terms of the personal focus they require from the user (e.g., amount of time to formulate a response; Joinson, 2003). Consequently, a person could be more (or less) socially skilled depending on whether he or she communicates FtF versus through CMC.

Given that social skills are considered context sensitive

(Argyle et al., 1981; McFall, 1982) their assessment among Internet users would be comprehensive by addressing not only the context of FtF interaction but also the context of CMC. Surprisingly, the majority of studies exploring the associations between Internet use and social skills used measures intended for either FtF (e.g., Caplan, 2005; Chan, 2014; Engelberg & Sjöberg, 2004; Harman et al., 2005; Valkenburg & Peter, 2008) or CMC interactions (e.g., Peter et al., 2006; Trepte & Reinecke, 2013; Wang et al., 2014). Only a few studies evaluated specific social skills, such as self-disclosure, in both contexts simultaneously (e.g., Antheunis et al., 2007; Knop et al., 2016). The purpose of this study was to fill this gap by developing a self-report questionnaire, the Real and Electronic Communication Skills questionnaire (RECS), which simultaneously assesses multiple dimensions of social skills in both FtF and CMC contexts.

### **Dimensions of social skills**

One major difficulty in developing a measure of social skills resides in the relatively broad definition of this construct. Indeed, the conceptualization of social skills varies drastically depending on the research area (psychology, sociology, medicine, management, etc.), or on the school of thought (Wilson & Sabee, 2003). Given the lack of a universal definition of this concept, our approach consisted of selecting the most important dimensions of social skills that occur within both FtF and CMC contexts. Hence, these dimensions mainly focus on interpersonal relationships, thereby excluding other concepts that are also considered social skills (e.g., self-management, academic, or compliance skills; Caldarella & Merrell, 1997). In line with a recent review of literature by Reich (2017) we found that the following six dimensions were frequently used in previous research examining social skills in FtF and CMC contexts: (1) Assertiveness, (2) Initiation of Interactions, (3) Self-disclosure, (4) Sociability, (5) Expression of Emotions, and (6) Emotion Decoding. From a theoretical point of view, these skills are considered essential ingredients for good interpersonal relationships in both online and offline contexts. Even if their expression is context dependent (Argyle et al., 1981), their function remains the same regardless of the environment within which social interactions take place. Specifically, these skills allow people to create new interactions, to maintain and manage these relationships, and, more generally, to communicate appropriately (Semrud-Clikeman, 2007).

## Assertiveness

The definition of assertiveness includes two response classes: *positive assertion* and *negative* or *conflict assertion* (Hargie, 2011). Positive assertion includes aspects such as the expression of positive emotions, the acceptance of compliments, or the ability to initiate, sustain, or terminate social interactions. Negative or conflict assertion consists of making reasonable requests, asking others to change their behavior, or expressing disagreement. In this study, we considered the components of initiating interactions (for positive assertion), as well as the

aspects of giving personal opinions even if they are unpopular, expressing disagreement, and refusing unreasonable requests (for conflict assertion).

#### Initiation of interactions

The ability to initiate interactions consists of taking the initiative of starting a new interaction with someone (e.g., speaking to a stranger and suggesting to a friend to engage in a new activity). As this skill involves some components of initiative, it was frequently considered a response class of assertiveness in different theoretical conceptualizations (Galassi & Galassi, 1978; Lazarus, 1973; Schroeder et al., 1983) and in various assertiveness inventories (Arrindell et al., 2001; Rathus, 1973). However, factor analyses carried out by Buhrmester et al. (1988) on several domains of interpersonal competence indicated that skills of initiation and conflict assertion are relatively independent constructs. Given this assumption, we considered them as separate skills.

#### Self-disclosure

In line with Tardy and Dindia (2006), we considered selfdisclosure as the intentional divulgation of personal information by verbal means, that is, a behavior that implies taking a certain amount of risks. Specifically, we focused on the disclosure of highly risky information by examining the "core layer" of self-disclosure, namely the divulgation of intimate information about self (e.g., values, needs, fears, and personal beliefs; Altman & Taylor, 1973).

### Sociability

Sociability refers to the tendency to prefer affiliating and interacting with others instead of being alone. It involves the ability to enter a peer group and to integrate one's behavior with the ongoing activity, including meeting strangers and making new friends (Cheek & Buss, 1981; Semrud-Clikeman, 2007).

#### Expression of emotions and emotion decoding

Our last two dimensions of interest — expression of emotions and emotion decoding — are considered subcomponents of the broader construct of emotional intelligence (Mayer et al., 2008). These concepts represent one of the most elementary forms of communication (Schmidt & Cohn, 2001). Contrary to the dimensions presented above, expressing and decoding emotions are predominantly based on nonverbal or paraverbal cues, such as facial expression, tone of voice, or bodily movements. For these reasons, these two dimensions are usually studied in the realm of nonverbal behavior (Planalp et al., 1996).

## **Methods**

## Participants and procedure

Two samples of adolescents and young adults were used in this study (N = 657). Sample 1 ( $n_1 = 358$ ; 81.7% female) allowed

us to identify the factor structure of our initial 100-item questionnaire and to select the best fitting items for the final form. This sample was composed of participants recruited among apprentices and university students in the French-speaking part of Switzerland. Their mean age was 21.66 years (SD = 3.84 years; 90% confidence interval range = 18-28 years). Sample 2 ( $n_2 = 299$ ; 49.8% female) was used to confirm the factor structure of the final form of the RECS. It was composed of adolescents recruited in French-speaking middle schools with a mean age of 12.93 years (SD = 0.86 years; 90% confidence interval range = 12-14 years). Finally, we used the total sample of this study (N = 657; 67% female) to assess internal consistency as well as external validity of our measure. Mean age for the total sample was 17.77 years (SD = 5.23; 90% confidence interval range = 12–26 years). Most respondents reported using the Internet every day for private purposes (72.2%) and to communicate online with people they had previously met offline (81.6%). In line with socioeconomic levels generally observed in Switzerland (Federal Statistical Office, 2019), socioeconomic status measured with the Indice de Position SocioEconomique (Genoud, 2005) indicated that 58% of the participants came from middle to upper class families. Our study was conducted in compliance with the Ethical Code of the Swiss Psychological Society.

#### **Measures**

## Real and electronic communication skills questionnaire.

The initial version of the RECS consisted of a 100-item questionnaire and comprised two subscales referring, respectively, to FtF and CMC contexts. First, the Real Communication Skills (RCS) subscale aimed to evaluate dimensions of social skills as used in FtF social interactions. Second, the Electronic Communication Skills (ECS) subscale focused on the evaluation of the same dimensions of social skills, but as used in text-based, CMC social interactions. Each subscale assessed the following six dimensions of social skills: (1) Expression of Emotions, (2) Emotion Decoding, (3) Sociability, (4) Initiation of Interactions, (5) Self-disclosure, and (6) Assertiveness. Items for each dimension were either created or derived from existing instruments, assessing social skills in FtF contexts. Specifically, items of the Assertiveness dimension were developed on the basis of the Rathus' Assertiveness Schedule (Bouvard et al., 1986; Rathus, 1973) and the Assertiveness subscale of the Questionnaire about Interpersonal Difficulties for Adolescents (Inglés et al., 2005). Items of the Initiation of Interactions dimension, of the Sociability dimension, and of the Expression of Emotions and Emotion Decoding dimension were, respectively, inspired by the Initiation subscale of the Interpersonal Competence Questionnaire (Buhrmester et al., 1988), by Cheek and Buss (1981) Sociability scale, and by the Positive and Negative Expressivity subscales of the Berkeley Expressivity Questionnaire (Gross & John, 1995). Responses were rated on a 5-point Likert scale (1 = strongly disagree, 5 = strongly agree).

## Assessing Online and Offline Adolescent Social Skills: Development and Validation of the Real and Electronic Communication Skills Questionnaire — 3/10

#### Social Skills Inventory

The Social Skills Inventory (SSI; Riggio, 1986; Riggio & Carney, 2003) is one of the most widely used questionnaires for evaluating basic social skills. This 90-item questionnaire assesses three dimensions of basic social communication skills (expressivity, sensitivity, and control) on two levels (emotional and social), for a total of six subscales. The dimensions of expressivity, sensitivity, and control refer to sending, receiving, and monitoring messages, respectively. The emotional level concerns nonverbal messages dealing with affects, attitudes, and status, whereas the social level relates to verbal messages, social discourse, and social norms. Responses were rated on a 5-point Likert scale (1 = not at all like me, 5 = exactly like me). In this study, Guttman-Cronbach's alpha was .82 for the total scale and ranged from .67 to .85 for the different subscales. We used this measure to examine the nomological validity of RECS subscales and to investigate the associations of different social skills with RECS dimensions.

## **Analysis strategy**

First, we performed two principal components analyses (PCAs) on Sample 1: the first one allowed us to explore the factor structure of each subscale and to identify their most informative items; the second one allowed us to examine and describe their new structure. Second, we conducted a confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) on Sample 2 to confirm the factor structure of our two subscales, and to identify the best structural model for the whole instrument. We assessed the internal consistency reliability for the dimensions of each subscale using Guttman-Cronbach's alpha (Cronbach, 1951; Guttman, 1945) and McDonald's (1999b) omega coefficients. Finally, we tested the nomological validity of the RECS by comparing its dimensions with dimensions of the SSI. Analyses were performed using R-Software 3.1.0 (2014)

## **Results and Discussion**

#### Principal component analyses

To identify latent factors for each of the two subscales of the RECS, we performed PCAs with varimax rotation on Sample 1. The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) values were excellent for the RCS (KMO = 0.83) and the ECS (KMO = 0.88), indicating sampling adequacy and good factorability of both subscales.

As a first step, we roughly refined the initial item pool. For the first PCA, we examined the scree plots to decide on the number of factors to extract. Contrary to the hypothesized six-factor structure, the scree plots suggested a four-factor solution for both RCS and ECS subscales. These four-factor solutions accounted for 33% and 38% of the variance, respectively.

In both subscales, our expected dimensions of Self-disclosure and Expression of Emotions were merged into a single factor named Self-disclosure. This is congruent with a somewhat broader definition of self-disclosure that includes the

disclosure of feelings (Tardy & Dindia, 2006). The dimensions of Sociability and Initiation of Interactions were also grouped into a single Sociability factor. Indeed, initiation of interactions can be considered a specific part of the broader concept of sociability, as it is often a necessary first step to achieve the exploratory activity inherent in the sociability concept. To summarize, the final four factors for each subscale were labeled as follows: (1) Sociability, (2) Self-disclosure, (3) Emotion Decoding, and (4) Assertiveness.

As a second step, we reduced the number of items of each subscale by selecting those with the highest loading on each factor, thereby excluding items loading on more than one factor (cross-loadings) or items loading on unexpected factors. Among the items meeting these criteria, we selected those that had corresponding items in both subscales (RCS and ECS). Each factor consisted of five items, except for the Assertiveness factor, which included only three items because of a large number of cross-loadings. In sum, the final version of the RECS is a 36-item questionnaire and composed of two subscales: one assessing social skills in FtF contexts (RCS) and the other in CMC contexts (ECS; see Supplementary Data). Each subscale consists of 18 items mirroring the items of the other subscale and measuring four dimensions of social skills (i.e., Sociability, Self-disclosure, Emotion Decoding, and Assertiveness).

Finally, we ran PCAs separately on each subscale to examine their new structure. Results are presented in Table 1. As these 18-item forms were intended to be the final ones, we used several statistical procedures to determine the optimal number of factors to extract the following: scree plots, Horn's parallel analysis, and the Very Simple Structure procedure (Revelle & Zinbarg, 2009). All three methods converged on a four-factor solution for each subscale. The varimax-rotated solutions explained, respectively, 51% and 48% of the variance for the RCS and the ECS.

## **Confirmatory factor analyses**

To confirm and clarify the internal structure of the RECS, we conducted a CFA on Sample 2. First, we compared alternative models for both subscales of the RECS. Model 1 represents the four independent factor model (Sociability, Self-disclosure, Emotion Decoding, and Assertiveness). Model 2 allows latent factors to covary. As the explained variance in our PCAs was not very high ( $\sim$ 50%) and given that the communalities of the items were sufficiently important, we assumed the existence of a general construct for each subscale. This led us to examine two alternative models (Models 3 and 4). Model 3 supposes a hierarchical structure with a second-order general factor, whereas Model 4 is a bifactor model in which a general latent factor underlies all of the items, alongside four domain-specific factors (Sociability, Self-disclosure, Perception of emotions, and Assertiveness), which underlie four subsets of items. The second order model (Model 3) differs from the bifactor model (Model 4) in that the former assumes that the domain specific factors are correlated, and that the

## Assessing Online and Offline Adolescent Social Skills: Development and Validation of the Real and Electronic Communication Skills Questionnaire — 4/10

higher order factor accounts for the relationship between the lower order factors (McDonald, 1999a). Conversely, the bifactor model (Model 4) supposes that the general factor accounts for the communality of the items, and that each specific factor accounts for unique variance in its own set of items.

The fit indices for these four models are presented in Table 2. The bifactor model (Model 4) provides an excellent fit for both subscales. Our results also indicate that the bifactor models provide a statistically significant improvement in terms of degrees of freedom and model chi-square in comparison with the alternative models. These results confirm the four-factor solution based on the exploratory factor analysis of each subscale, and suggest the existence of a general factor accounting for the specific context of each subscale. The general factors of the RCS and ECS represent the general constructs of offline and online social competence, respectively.

After identifying the best structure for each subscale, we compared alternative models of relationships between these subscales. Model 5 (Table 2) assumes complete independence between both subscales. Model 6 allows each group factor of a subscale to covary with the similar group factor of the other subscale (e.g., the Sociability factor of the RCS was allowed to covary with the Sociability factor of the ECS), whereas Model 7 allowed an additional covariance between the two general factors. Only Model 7 showed acceptable fit, with satisfactory RMSEA and SRMR values. Comparative Fit Index (CFI) value was lower, but incremental fit indices such as the CFI are known to penalize slightly distorted models, when their main loadings are lower than 0.70, which is the case with our data (Beauducel & Wittmann, 2005). In addition, compared to the alternative models, Model 7 presented a statistically significant improvement in terms of degrees of freedom and model chi-square. To summarize, the total structure of the RECS matches our expectations in that each latent factor estimated in one context — be it a general or a specific factor - shares some common variance with the same latent factor estimated in the other context (Figure 1). Moreover, each general and specific factor seems to have some core characteristics that are expressed differentially depending on the context. This is congruent with the idea that interactions are determined conjointly by personal characteristics (e.g., social skills, motives, or attitudes) and by contextual parameters (see, e.g., Fleeson & Noftle, 2008).

### Internal consistency

Reliability indices were good for the whole RCS and for its dimensions (Table 3). For the whole ECS, reliability indices were equally good, with indices of some dimensions somewhat lower (e.g., Assertiveness). Knowing that the alpha is always lower in scales with few items, these relatively low levels are acceptable (Cortina, 1993).

#### Nomological validity

The correlations between the two subscales of the RECS and the six subscales of the SSI are shown in Table 3. The total scores of the RCS and ECS have both positive and large

Item <sup>a</sup>	Factor 1 Sociability	Factor 2 Self- disclosure	Factor 3 Perception of emotions	Factor 4 Assertiveness
RCS				
1. Meet new people	0.76	0.07	0.08	0.00
2. Invite new acquaintances to do activities	0.76	0.22	0.18	-0.04
8. Propose new things to interesting people	0.75	0.21	0.18	0.00
52. People say that I have many friends	0.59	0.04	0.15	0.25
48. Prefer hanging out with a large group of friends	0.54	-0.07	-0.17	0.18
10. Cry in front of others	0.07	0.78	0.05	-0.07
55. Rarely share my emotions <sup>b</sup>	0.12	0.76	0.05	0.09
11. Disclose things that scare me	0.12	0.73	0.05	0.11
28. Difficult to hide my emotions	0.01	0.65	-0.06	-0.27
23. Disclose things that I'm ashamed of	0.06	0.55	-0.07	0.29
21. Sense sadness of others, even if hidden	0.02	0.04	0.77	-0.03
49. Skilled in identifying emotions of others	0.06	-0.03	0.73	-0.07
15. Rarely wrong when thinking someone is happy	0.08	0.00	0.67	0.18
44. Easily realize when someone is angry	-0.01	0.04	0.64	0.09
27. Pay attention to body language	0.20	-0.03	0.50	0.07
24. Do not express opinions if different of that of others <sup>b</sup>	-0.16	-0.03	0.13	0.74
18. Express opinion even if differs from respected person	0.20	0.09	0.08	0.69
30. Friends consider as assertive	0.24	0.03	0.01	0.63
% of variance explained	14.17%	14.13%	13.21%	9.72%
ECS				
22. Suggest to switch to private system (chatroom)	0.67	0.08	0.20	0.06
4. Favor chat publicly with large group of people	0.63	0.01	0.01	-0.03
5. Propose new things to interesting people	0.63	0.12	0.06	-0.05
10. Widen circle of online friends	0.61	0.03	0.15	0.14
43. Invite new acquaintances to do activities	0.59	0.24	0.06	-0.01
2. Disclose things that scare me	0.12	0.79	0.03	0.18
14. Disclose things that I'm ashamed of	0.01	0.77	-0.05	0.08
31. Easily share my emotions	0.15	0.68	0.26	-0.02
19. Difficult to hide my emotions	0.18	0.47	0.15	-0.27
37. Write long texts	0.05	0.36	0.16	0.16
36. Easily realize when someone is angry	0.07	0.10	0.76	0.04
30. Rarely wrong when thinking someone is happy	0.02	0.06	0.75	0.02
18. Sense sadness of others, even if hidden	0.17	0.16	0.74	-0.12
6. Skilled in identifying emotions of others	0.13	0.06	0.71	0.12
12. Pay attention to emoticons	0.16	0.26	0.32	0.03
33. Do not express opinions if different of that of others <sup>b</sup>	-0.13	0.02	-0.12	0.80
27. Tell when I disagree with someone	0.09	0.12	0.06	0.78
3. Friends consider as assertive	0.23	0.12	0.29	0.48
% of variance explained	12.26%	12.55%	14.38%	9.26%

Table 1. Varimax Rotation of the Four-Factor Solution of the Real and Electronic Communication Skills Questionnaire

*Note*. Factor loadings  $\geq 0.32$  are in boldface.

<sup>a</sup> Item scale: 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*).

<sup>b</sup> Reverse scored item.

ECS = Electronic Communication Skills; RCS = Real Communication Skills.

able 2. Fit Indices of Alternative Structura	al Models of the Real and Electronic	Communication Skills Q	uestionnaire
--	--------------------------------------	------------------------	--------------

Model	$\chi^2$	Df	CFI	RMSEA	SRMR	$\chi^2$ diff
RCS $(n = 267)$						
1. Independent	343.343	135	0.727	0.076	0.121	
2. Covariances allowed	225.956	129	0.873	0.053	0.062	
Difference between Model 1 and Model 2						117.39 *
3. Hierarchical	230.934	131	0.869	0.053	0.063	
Difference between Model 2 and Model 3						4.978
4. Bifactor	151.232	111	0.947	0.037	0.047	
Difference between Model 2 and Model 4						74.724*
ECS $(n = 234)$						
1. Independent	385.189	135	0.731	0.089	0.153	
2. Covariances allowed	264.506	129	0.854	0.067	0.071	
Difference between Model 1 and Model 2						120.68 *
3. Hierarchical	268.566	131	0.852	0.067	0.073	
Difference between Model 2 and Model 3						4.06
4. Bifactor	181.343	111	0.924	0.052	0.057	
Difference between Model 2 and Model 4						83.163*
RECS $(n = 215)$						
1. Group factors unlinked, general factors unlinked	988.969	546	0.755	0.061	0.096	
2. Group factors linked, general factors unlinked	884.924	542	0.81	0.054	0.081	
Difference between Model 1 and Model 2						104.05 *
3. Group factors linked, general factors linked	868.583	541	0.819	0.053	0.071	
Difference between Model 2 and Model 3						16.341*

## \* p < .0001.

CFI = Comparative Fit Index; RMSEA = Root Mean Square Error of Approximation; SRMR = Standardized Root Mean Square Error of Approximation.



**Figure 1.** Standardized coefficients for the relationships between both bifactor subscales of the RECS. For clarity reasons, all 36 indicators (items) do not appear in the figure, but their position is shown schematically. ECS = Electronic Communication Skills; RCS = Real Communication Skills.

T	able 3. Internal Consistency Reliability and Correlations between the Real and Electronic Communication Sl	kills
Q	uestionnaire and the SSI Subscales	

			Social Skills Inventory						
RECS	α	$\omega^{a}$	EE	ES	EC	SE	SS	SC	Total
RCS total	.75	.81	.59*	.45*	32*	.62*	06	.51*	.60*
Sociability	.66		.37*	.22	1	.70*	11	.55*	.58*
Disclosure	.73		.64*	.21	59*	.24	.17	.11	.22
Emotion decoding	.73		.03	.60*	.10	.23	.00	.19	.39*
Assertiveness	.51		.27*	.15	.06	.41*	41*	.57*	.38*
ECS total	.78	.84	.28*	.34*	02	.29*	.05	.22	.40*
Sociability	.71		.21	.19	.02	.32*	.03	.21	.34*
Disclosure	.62		.38*	.21	21	.19	.10	.07	.24*
Emotion decoding	.73		04	.32*	.12	.07	.09	.09	.23
Assertiveness	.51		.23	.20	.05	.20	18	.31*	.28*

*Note.* n = 200. EC = Emotional Control; EE = Emotional Expressivity; ES = Emotional Sensitivity; SC = Social Control; SE = Social Expressivity; SS = Social Sensitivity.

<sup>a</sup> In bifactor models, this coefficient refers to McDonald's (1999a) omega total coefficient, which represents the variance of each subscale that is explained by the general and domain-specific factors.

\* p < 0.05 (Bonferroni adjusted).

statistically significant correlations with the total score of the SSI, which denotes a good relationship between RECS' subscales and basic social skills. Moreover, we found that each dimension of the RECS has a differential relationship with the subscales of the SSI. Each subscale of the RECS had the highest correlations with a theoretically relevant subscale of the SSI: Sociability was linked with Social Expressivity, Disclosure with Emotional Expressivity, Emotion Decoding with Emotional Sensitivity, and Assertiveness with Social Control. Finally, the various dimensions of the SSI were more strongly correlated with the RCS subscales than with the ECS ones. This result is not surprising as the SSI measures social skills in FtF interactions.

## Conclusion

The purpose of this study was to develop and validate a multidimensional measure of social communication skills applicable to CMC and FtF contexts. The RECS has been subject to a thorough and stringent validation procedure, and the final form of the questionnaire showed good psychometric properties. Its complex factor structure allowed accounting for both individual and contextual factors. Internal consistency indices were satisfactory, given the conciseness of the questionnaire. The external validity of the RECS and its different subscales, as measured by the correlations with the SSI, was also good and confirmed the place of the RECS in the nomological network. Thus, the results of this study provide preliminary evidence of the factorial, reliability, and nomological validity of the RECS. Although promising, this study is limited. First, given that Sample 1 was mainly composed of females (81.7%), we cannot exclude that the initial item selection was biased. In fact, previous research has shown that females are

more likely to view affectively oriented social skills as slightly more important compared to males (Burleson et al., 1996). Nevertheless, the structure of the RECS has been confirmed by the CFAs using the more balanced Sample 2. Second, given that this study was conducted in the French-speaking part of Switzerland, it is unclear to what extent the use of the RECS could be generalized to other cultural contexts.

Today, many adults assume that youth are necessarily experts in new Internet technologies, but there is important variation in adolescents' experience and use (boyd, 2014). Despite these differences, interactions between adolescents are increasingly mediated through new Internet technologies (Lenhart, 2015). This increase of online peer interactions has generally led to growing concerns about the effects of the Internet on young people's socialization (Yau & Reich, 2018). The evaluation of these effects should not be limited to a single aspect of socialization, but should be considered more broadly. In a recent literature review, Reich (2017) points out that, to date, no study investigated social competence in online spaces, nor identified links between online and offline social competence. The RECS is the first questionnaire allowing a one-to-one comparison of several dimensions of social skills in FtF versus CMC contexts. In addition, questions arise as to whether online social competence may be transferred to offline social competence, or whether different contexts (i.e., online and offline) may be associated with differences in patterns of social competence (Nesi et al., 2018). In this regard, the RECS is the first tool to create a bridge between the overarching constructs of offline and online social competence, as well as to quantify the relationship between offline and online social skills. As young people keep being more and more connected (Suter et al., 2018), this bridge may allow future studies to investigate the importance of social competence in online

contexts.

## **Acknowledgments**

This research was supported by the Institute of Psychology University of Lausanne, Switzerland. We would also like to thank the two anonymous reviewers for their insightful comments.

## **Author Disclosure Statement**

No competing financial interests exist.

## **Supplementary Material**

Supplementary Data

## **References**

- Altman, I., & Taylor, D. (1973). Social penetration: The development of interpersonal relationships. Holt, Rinehart; Winston.
- Antheunis, M. L., Valkenburg, P. M., & Peter, J. (2007). Computer-mediated communication and interpersonal attraction: An experimental test of two explanatory hypotheses. *Cyberpsychology & Behavior*, 10(6), 831–836. https://doi.org/10.1089/cpb.2007.9945
- Argyle, M., Furnham, A., & Graham, J. A. (1981). The effect of the situation on behaviour. In M. Argyle, A. Furnham, & J. A. Graham (Eds.), *Social situations*. (pp. 41–67). Cambridge University Press.
- Arrindell, W. A., Bridges, K. R., van der Ende, J., St. Lawrence, J., Gray-Shellberg, L., Harnish, R., Rogers, R., & Sanderman, R. (2001). Normative studies with the scale for interpersonal behaviour (sib): II. US students: A cross-cultural comparison with dutch data. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 39(12), 1461– 1479. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-7967(01) 00009-2
- Beauducel, A., & Wittmann, W. W. (2005). Simulation study on fit indexes in cfa based on data with slightly distorted simple structure. *Structural Equation Modeling*, *12*(1), 41–75. https://doi.org/10.1207/ s15328007sem1201\_3
- Bouvard, M., Cottraux, J., Mollard, M., Messy, P., & Defayolle, M. (1986). Validation et analyse factorielle de l'échelle d'affirmation de soi de rathus. *Psychologie Médicale*, 18, 759–763.
- boyd, D. (2014). It's complicated: The social lives of networked teens. Yale University Press.
- Buhrmester, D., Furman, W., Wittenberg, M. T., & Reis, H. T. (1988). Five domains of interpersonal competence in peer relationships. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 55(6), 991–1008.

## Assessing Online and Offline Adolescent Social Skills: Development and Validation of the Real and Electronic Communication Skills Questionnaire — 8/10

- Burleson, B. R., Kunkel, A. W., Samter, W., & Working, K. J. (1996). Men's and women's evaluations of communication skills in personal relationships: When sex differences make a difference and when they don't. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 13(2), 201–224.
- Caldarella, P., & Merrell, K. (1997). Common dimensions of social skills of children and adolescents: A taxonomy of positive behaviors. *School Psychology Review*, 26(2), 264–278.
- Caplan, S. E. (2005). A social skill account of problematic internet use. *Journal of Communication*, 55(4), 721–736.
- Chan, T. H. (2014). Facebook and its effects on users' empathic social skills and life satisfaction: A doubleedged sword effect. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, *17*(5), 276–280.
- Cheek, J. M., & Buss, A. H. (1981). Shyness and sociability. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 41(2), 330–339.
- Cortina, J. M. (1993). What is coefficient alpha? an examination of theory and applications. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 78(1), 98–104. https://doi.org/10.1037/ 0021-9010.78.1.98
- Cronbach, L. J. (1951). Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests. *Psychometrika*, 16(3), 297–334. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02310555
- Engelberg, E., & Sjöberg, L. (2004). Internet use, social skills, and adjustment. *Cyberpsychology & Behavior*, 7(1), 41–47.
- Federal Statistical Office. (2019). Economic and social situation of the population.
- Fleeson, W., & Noftle, E. (2008). The end of the personsituation debate: An emerging synthesis in the answer to the consistency question. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 2(4), 1667–1684. https: //doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-9004.2008.00122.x
- Galassi, M. D., & Galassi, J. P. (1978). Assertion: A critical review. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, and Practice*, 15(1), 16–29. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0085834
- Genoud, P. A. (2005). *Indice de position socioeconomique* (*IPSE*) (Unpublished Work).
- Gross, J. J., & John, O. P. (1995). Facets of emotional expressivity: Three self-report factors and their correlates. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 19(4), 555– 568.
- Guttman, L. (1945). A basis for analyzing test-retest reliability. *Psychometrika*, 42(4), 567–578. https://doi.org/10. 1007/BF02288892
- Hargie, O. (2011). *Skilled interpersonal communication*. (5th ed.). Routledge.
- Harman, J. P., Hansen, C. E., Cochran, M. E., & Lindsey, C. R. (2005). Liar, liar: Internet faking but not frequency of use affects social skills, self-esteem, social anxiety,

and aggression. *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, 8(1), 1–6.

- Inglés, C. J., Hidalgo, M. D., & Méndez, F. X. (2005). Interpersonal difficulties in adolescence: A new self-report measure. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*, 21(1), 11–22. https://doi.org/10.1027//1015-5759.21.1.11
- Joinson, A. N. (2003). Understanding the psychology of internet behaviour: Virtual worlds, real lives. Palgrave MacMillan.
- Knop, K., Öncü, J. S., Penzel, J., Abele, T. S., Brunner, T., Vorderer, P., & Wessler, H. (2016). Offline time is quality time. comparing within-group self-disclosure in mobile messaging applications and face-to-face interactions. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 55(Part B), 1076–1084. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015. 11.004
- Lazarus, A. A. (1973). On assertive behavior: A brief note. Behavior Therapy, 4(5), 697–699. https://doi.org/10. 1016/S0005-7894(73)80161-3
- Lenhart, A. (2015). Teens, social media & technology overview 2015.
- Mayer, J. D., Roberts, R. D., & Barsade, S. G. (2008). Human abilities: Emotional intelligence. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 59, 507–536. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev.psych.59.103006.093646
- McDonald, R. P. (1999a). The common factor model. In R. P. McDonald (Ed.), *Test theory: A unified treatment*. (pp. 76–120). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- McDonald, R. P. (1999b). Test homogeneity, reliability, and generalizability. In R. P. McDonald (Ed.), *Test theory: A unified treatment.* (pp. 76–120). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- McFall, R. M. (1982). A review and reformulation of the concept of social skills. *Behavioral Assessment*, 4(1), 1–33. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01321377
- Nesi, J., Choukas-Bradley, S., & Prinstein, M. J. (2018). Transformation of adolescent peer relations in the social media context: Part 2—application to peer group processes and future directions for research. *Clinical child and family psychology review*, 21, 295–319.
- Peter, J., Valkenburg, P. M., & Schouten, A. P. (2006). Characteristics and motives of adolescents talking with strangers on the internet. *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, 9(5), 526–530. https://doi.org/10.1089/cpb.2006. 9.526
- Planalp, S., DeFrancisco, V. L., & Rutherford, D. (1996). Varieties of cues to meotion in naturally occurring situations. *Cognition and Emotion*, 10(2), 137–153. https://doi.org/10.1080/026999396380303
- Rathus, S. A. (1973). A 30-item schedule for assessing assertive behavior. *Behavior Therapy*, 4(3), 398–406. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-7894(73)80120-0

## Assessing Online and Offline Adolescent Social Skills: Development and Validation of the Real and Electronic Communication Skills Questionnaire — 9/10

- Reich, S. M. (2017). Connecting offline social competence to online peer interactions. *Psychology of Popular Media Culture*, 6(4), 291.
- Revelle, W., & Zinbarg, R. E. (2009). Coefficients alpha, beta, omega, and the glb: Comments on sijtsma. *Psychometrika*, 74(1), 145–154. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11336-008-9102-z
- Riggio, R. E. (1986). Assessment of basic social skills. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *51*(3), 649–660.
- Riggio, R. E., & Carney, D. R. (2003). Social skills inventory manual (2nd). Mind Garden.
- Schmidt, K. L., & Cohn, J. F. (2001). Human facial expressions as adaptations: Evolutionary questions in facial expression research. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology*, *116*(33), 3–24. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.20001
- Schroeder, H. E., Rakos, R. F., & Moe, J. (1983). The social perception of assertive behavior as a function of response class and gender. *Behavior Therapy*, 14(4), 534–544. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-7894(83) 80076-8
- Semrud-Clikeman, M. (2007). Development of social competence in children. In M. Semrud-Clikeman (Ed.), Social competence in children. (pp. 11–37). Springer.
- Suter, L., Waller, G., Bernath, J., Külling, C., Willemnse, I., & Süss, D. (2018). James–youth, activities, media– swiss survey. Zürcher Hochschule für Angewandte Wissenschaften2018. Factor, 3.
- Tardy, C. H., & Dindia, K. (2006). Self-disclosure: Strategic revelation of information in personal and professional relationships. In O. Hargie (Ed.), *The handbook of communication skills*. (3rd, pp. 229–266). Routledge.
- Team, R. D. C. (2014). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. http://www.R-project.org
- Trepte, S., & Reinecke, L. (2013). The reciprocal effects of social network site use and the disposition for selfdisclosure: A longitudinal study. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 29, 1102–1112. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.chb.2012.10.002
- Valkenburg, P. M., & Peter, J. (2008). Adolescents' identity experiments on the internet: Consequences for social competence and self-concept unity. *Communication Research*, 35(2), 208–231.
- Wang, J.-L., Jackson, L. A., Gaskin, J., & Wang, H.-Z. (2014). The effects of social networking site (sns) use on college students' friendship and well-being. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 37, 229–236. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.chb.2014.04.051
- Wilson, S. R., & Sabee, C. M. (2003). Explicating communicative competence as a theoretical term. In J. O. Greene & B. R. Burleson (Eds.), *Handbook of com-*

*munication and social interaction skills.* (pp. 3–50). Routledge.

Yau, J. C., & Reich, S. M. (2018). Are the qualities of adolescents' offline friendships present in digital interactions? *Adolescent Research Review*, 3, 339–355.